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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Plymouth Congregational Church is situated on a
spacious tract of land in Coconut Grove, Florida. The building
patterned after a Spanish Mission Chuxch in Mexico, was dpsighed
by Clinton MacKenzie of New York. A Spanish stonemason,
Phillippe Feliz Rebom, was commissioned to set the stones. Eacy
of the hand-hewn native limestone blocks was placed by hand
during the 18-month period of construction. The one-story
stone structure has three doors and two bell towers in the main
facade. The main entry is a massive, 300-year old, hand-carved
door composed of walnut, backed with Spanish oak, and contains
the original hand-wrought iron fittings. The central door is
of immense proportions, is semi-circular, and ornamented with
stone pilasters supporting an entablature. A niche above this
door has a broken pediment above. The central door is flanked
by smaller entrance doors leading to side loggias. "These side
loggias enclose the interior and extend the length of the church
in a south to north direction. Evenly spaced posts support the
eaves which extend from the gabled roof.  The roof covering
consists of red Spanish and French tiles. The main facade is
perfectly balanced in appearance, and this symmetry is continued
in the pair of bell towers which extend upward from the roof
line. The bell towers are capped with stone finials, and are
notable features of the exterior. A scalloped parapet between
the bell towers is also topped with decorative finials. The
lower portion of the main facade containing the side doors are
joined to the upper portion by large scrolls. The majority of
the main facade is heavily covered by dense vine growth.
Overall plan of the Church is cruciform, with aisled nave and
includes wing extensions at the rear (north) portion of the
building. Window treatment consists of diamond-shaped panes in
french doors, with semi-circular arched transoms above. There
are no windows in the main facade. The exterior and interior
walls are formed from irregular hand-cut block of native coral.
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The entire complex includes several puildings in addition
to the core building; among them are: the sanctuary, the fellow-
ship hall, an office building, a school, and the walled gardens.
The sanctuary and gardens are the oldest portions in the complex.
The garden on the east side of the sanctuary is walled on three
sides, and enclosed on the fourth by the church. Loggias around . .
the walls present the effect of a cloistered courtyard. In the} ...
north end of this courtyard there is an open pulpit built of ths
same coral rock. The west side of the courtyard is not enclosed
and is open to the other buildings.

The sanctuary was enlarged in 1953, with additicnal expan- .
sion in 1958. Architect Robert Law Weed designed the additions
in a style compatible to the original structure.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Plymouth Congregational Church plays a major role in
the settlement of Coconut Grove, Florida. The growth of this
19th century bay community traces from the earliest settlers
in the area who organized the Union Chapel which was the fore—'|:
runnexr of Union Congregational Church, founded in 1897. James
Bolton, the first pastor, offered incorporation of his congre-
gation into whatever dencmination would provide financial
assistance, and when the Church of the Pilgrims accepted, the
church was renamed Plymouth Congregational Church. The - .
church facility was constructed over an 18-month period, from
1916-1917. However, the history of the congregation and the
first chapel began with the establishment of a one-room Sunday
School building, erected in 1887.

Earliest known Church records of the Union Congregational
Church are dated March 2, 1901. During the first three years
of existence, a small chapel was erected on land donated by
Commodore Ralph M. Munroe. The names of Coconut Grove's first
settlers appear among the list of founders of the congregation,
and it is from this standpoint that the Plymouth Congregational
Church derives its primary significance. The first Congrega-
tionalist minister was Solomon G. Merrick, who became pastor
in May, 1901. :

Significance of this property relates not only to its
direct association with the pioneers of Coconut Grove in the
late 19th century, but also to its architectural design. As
an outstanding example of Spanish Mission style, it has been
recognized by leading architects as one of the finest specimens
of Spanish design in the South, as well as being one of the
most historic churches in Dade County, Florida.

The Church building represents the history and development]
of one of South Florida's earliest settlements.
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Present & Original Physical Appearance (use continuation sheet if necessary)
The Plymouth Congregational Church is situated on a
spacious tract of land in Coconut Grove, Florida. The building

O~

patterned after a Spanish Mission Church in Mexico, was designe
by Clinton MacKenzie of New York. A Spanish stonemason,
Phillippe Feliz Rebom, was commissioned to set the stones. Each

of the hand-hewn native limestone blocks was placed by hand
during the 18-month period of construction. The one-story
stone structure has three decors and two bell towers in the main
facade. The main entry is a massive, 300-year old, hand-carved
door composed of walnut, backed with Spanish oak, and contains
the original hand-wrought iron fittings. The central door is
of immense proportions, is semi-circular, and' ornamented with
stone pilasters supporting an entablature. A niche above this
door has a broken pediment above. The central door is flanked
by smaller entrance doors leading to side loggias. These side
loggias enclose the interior and extend the length of the church
in a south to north direction. Evenly spaced posts support the
eaves which extend from the gabled roof. The roof covering
consists of red Spanish and French tiles. The main facade is
perfectly balanced in appearance, and this symmetry is continuef
in the pair of bell towers which extend upward from the roof
line. The bell towers are capped with stone finials, and are
notable featues of the exterior. A scalloped parapet between

S e
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the bell towers is alsoc topped with decorative finials. The
lower pertion of the main facade containing the side doors are
joined to the upper portion by large scrolls. The majority of
the main facade is heavily covered by dense wvine growth.
Overall plan of the-Church is cruciform, with aisled nave and
ingludes wing extensions at the rear (north) portion of the
building. Window treatment consists of diamond-shaped panes in
french doors, with semi-circular arched transoms above. There
are no windows in the main facade. The exterior and interior
walls are formed from irregular hand-cut block of native coral.

_ The entire complex includes several buildings in addition
to the core building; among them»are: the sanctuary, the fellow-
ship hall, an® office building, a school, and the walled gardens.
The sanctuary and gardens are the oldest portions in the complex.
The garden on the east side of the sancthary is walled on three
sides, and enclosed on the fourth by the church. Loggias around
the walls present the effect of a cloistered courtyard. In the
north end of this courtyard there is an open pulpit built of the
same coral rock. The west side of the courtyard is not enclosed
and is open to the other buildings.

The sanctuary was enlarged in 1953, with additional expan-

sion in 1958. Architect Robert Law Weed designed the additions
in a style compatible to the original structure.

.
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Statement of Significance (use continuation sheet if necessary}

The Plymouth Congregational Church plays a major role in
- the settlement of Coconut Grove, Florida. The growth of this
19th century bay community traces from the earliest settlers
in the area who organized the Union Chapel which was the fore-
runner of Union Congregational Church, founded in 1897. James
Bolton, the first pastor, offered incorporation of his congre-
gation into whatever denomination would provide financial
assistance, and when the Church of the Pilgrims accepted, the
church was renamed Plymouth Congregational Church. The

church facility was constructed over an 18-month period, from

1916-1917. However, the history of the congregation and the
first chapel began with the establishment of a one-room Sunday

School buildinglz erected in 1887.

Earliest known Church records of the Union Congregational
Church are dated March 2, 190l1. During the first three years
of existence, a small chapél was erected on land donated by l}

S e
»
-

Commodore Ralph M. Monroe. The names of Coconut Grove's first

' * . (con't.) 911==
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settlers appear among the list of founders of the congregation,
and it is from this standpoint that the Plymouth Congregational
Church derives its primary significance. The first Congrega-
tionalist minister was Solomon G. Merrick, who became pastor

in May, 1901. ‘

Significance of this property relates not only to its
direct association with the pioneers of Coconut Grove in the
late 19th century, but also to iis architectural design. As
an outstanding example of Spanish Mission style, it has been
recognized by leading architects as one of the finest specimens
of Spanish design in the South, as well as being one of the
most historic churches in Dade County, Florida.

The Church building represents the history and development
of one of South Florida's earliest settlements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION | -

Historic Name:

Plymouth Congregational Church

Current Name:

Plymouth Congregational Church

Location:

3429 Devon Road

Miami, Florida 33133

Present Owner: »
Plymouth Congregational Church
c/o William C. Lewis

407 Miracle Mile
Coral Gables, Florida 33134

Present Occupant: -

Plymouth Congregational Church
3429 Devon Road
Miami, Florida 33133

Present Use:

Religious

Present Zoning District:

R-1

HC Zoning Overlay District:

HC-1

Boundary Description of HC Zoning District:

The 1ot shown as "Church" on the amended plat of PLYMOUTH COURT, as

recorded in Plat Book 4 at page 78, of the Public Records of Dade County,
Florida; and the southwesterly 50 feet of the southeasterly 200 feet of

that portion of Lot "A" of the plat of EWANTON HEIGHTS, as recorded in

Plat Book B at Page 52 of the Public Records of Dade County, Florida, ‘Z"
lying northwesterly of Main Highway, Miami, Florida.
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HC Zoning Classification:

Historic Site

Dade County Historic Survey Rating:

Architectural Significance - 1

Historical Significance
Contextural Significance

-1
-1
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PLYMOUTH CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH
3429 DEVON ROAD |

location

HIBISCUS ST.

site plan




II. SIGNIFICANCE ' : -

Statement of Significance:

Plymouth Congregational Church is significant for its association with

the early development of Coconut Grove. In addition, the church is an
outstanding example of Spanish Mission style architecture and is par-
ticularly noteworthy for the excellence of its design, details, materials,
and craftsmanship. .

Organized in 1897, Plymouth Congregational Church was founded by some of
the most influential pioneer citizens of Coconut Grove. Solomon G.
Merrick, father of George Merrick who developed Coral Gables, became
pastor in 1901 and was the first Congregationalist minister to serve

the Church. Plymouth Church expanded rapidly as Cocenut Grove developed
and outgrew two chapels before erecting the present structure in 1916.

Plymouth Congregational Church is also significant as an outstanding
example of Spanish Mission style architecture. The building's twin bell
towers, cturvilinear gable roof, and elaborate front entrance are important
elements of the entire composition. Also noteworthy is the building's
stonework, Taid by a single stonemason, a Spaniard named Felix Rebom.

Relationship to Criteria for Designation:

Plymouth Congregaticonal Church is eligible for designation under the
following criteria:

3. Exemplifies the historical, cultural, political, economic, or
social trends of the community.

Plymouth Congregational Church is a reflection of the development
of Coconut Grove from its pioneer days and has served as one of the
most significant religious institutions in that community.

5. Embodies those distinguishiﬁg characteristics of an architectural
style, or period, or method of construction.

Piymouth Congregational Church is an outstanding examb]e of Spanish
Mission style architecture, particularly evident in its twin bell
towers, curvilinear gable roof, and side arcades.

7. Contains elements of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship
of outstanding quality, or which represent a significant innovation
or adaptation to the South Florida environment.

Plymouth Congregational Church is especially noteworthy for its out-

standing stonework, enriched classical door surround, elaborate
front door, and twin bell towers.
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ITI.

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

Date of Erection:

1916-1917

Architect:

The architect for Plymouth Congregational Church was Clinton McKenzie
of New York, a nationally-known church architect.

Builder/Contractor:

The stonemason for Plymouth Congregational Church was Felix Rebom.

Historical Context:

Plymouth Congregational Church had its start in 1897 when the Union
Congregational Church was founded by Rev. James Bolton. During the
first three years, a small chapel was erected on what is now Grand
Avenue and Virginia Street on Tand donated by Commodore Ralph Munroe.
A larger structure was built on McFarlane Road, now the site of the
American Legion hall, during Solomon Merrick's pastorate.

In 1915, Rev. George Spaulding urged the membership to invest in real
estate. The church purchased a tract of land in Coconut Grove, sub-
divided it, and sold enough Tots to begin construction of the present
church building on a portion of the land. The original part of the
church was begun in June, 1916, and completed in August, 1917.

The major period of growth for the church occurred between 1947 and
1971, when membership increased from under 100 to nearly 2,000.

The church also expanded physically to meet its growing needs. A
major addition to the church was completed in 1954, and additional
buildings, including educational units, a church office building, and
a fellowship hall, were added in 1959. Plymouth Congregational Church
continues to function as a major institution in Coconut Grove.
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Iv.

ARCHITECTURAL TINFORMATION

Description of Building:

Plymouth Congregational Church was constructed as a one story rectangular
structure. Topped with a gable roof covered with corrugated clay tiles,
the building is constructed of native oolitic limestone.

The southwest (front) facade is highlighted by a curvilinear gable sur-
mounted by twin bell towers. The main entrance is located in the center
bay and features an enriched classical door surround. The door itself is
approximately 375 years old and came from a monastery in the Pyrenees
Mountains. Made of hand carved walnut backed with ocak, it still retains
its original hand wrought iron fittings. Smaller doorways on either side
of the main entrance lead to side loggias which enclose the interior.
Round arches supported by piers comprise these side elevations.

The curch was enlarged in 1954 by the addition of two transepts and a

new chancel. This addition, designed by Robert Law Weed, changed the
plan of the church from rectangular to cross-shaped.

Description of Site:

Plymouth Congregational Church is located on the corner of Devon Road
and Main Highway, and the lot is enclosed by a wall of oolitic Timestone.
A garden on the east side of the sanctuary is walled on three sides and
enclosed on the fourth by the church. Loggias around the walls present
the effect of a cloistered courtyard. An open garden is located to the
west of the church.
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Plymouth Congregational Church

3429 Devon Road
Southwest {front) facade

1982




Plymouth Congregational Church

3429 Devon Road

Southwest (front) and southeast facade

c. 1920

(Historical Association of Southern Florida)
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V. PLANNING CONTEXT -

Plymouth Congregational Church is situated in the midst of a stable
single family residential neighborhocd. The church has a Targe congre-
gation, which values the historic significance of the buildings. No
significant change is anticipated within the boundaries of the proposed
HC-1 zoning overlay.

The church also owns several acres of land -in addition to the area included
within the proposed HC-1 zoning overlay boundaries. This additional area
is not fully utilized by church related facilities, and may be subject to
future development. Such development should be in accord with the existing
R-1 zoning height and bulk regulations to avoid negative impacts on the
historic site.

30




VI. HC ZONING ELEMENTS , | -

Boundaries:

The boundaries of the HC zoning district have been drawn to include

only that tract of land immediately -surrounding Plymouth Congregational
Church. Although other portions of the property are historically related
to the church building, it was the decision of the Heritage Conservation
Board to maintain the boundaries of the Interim Heritage Conservation
Zoning District. This should not be construed as a precedent-setting
decision, but rather as the grandfathering of a previous decision.

Major Exterior Surfaces Subject to Review:

A1l four facades of Plymouth Congregational Church and all surfaces of
all other existing improvements or structures {walls, loggias, etc.)
on the site shall be considered major exterior surfaces subject to review.

Major Landscape Features Subject to Review:

The major landscape features subject to review shall inciude all features
which are subject to requirements for tree removal permits, as set forth
in Chapter 17 of the City Code.

3 |
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News Release

CONTACT: Jim Purks or David Fountain 224-2171 - August 16, 1974

TWX Number: 810-931-3677 . )
National Register

(Tallahassee)-=--Two buildings of historic significance

in Dade County, a home and the site of a Revolutionary War

fort in Pensacola have been added to the Natioal Register
- of Historic Places.

Robert Williams, director of the Florida Department of
State Division of Archives, History and Records Management,
made the announcement which signals national recpgnition of
the historic importance of these representative glimpses
of Florida's past. .

In Dade County, the latest listings include the Coral
Gables City Hall, built in 1927; and the Plymouth
Congregational Church in Coconut Grove, a fine example of
Spanish Mission arcnitectural style, built in 1917.

in Pensacola, the site of Ft. George, built by the
British in 1778, has been singled out for recogniation.
Preservation work is already underway on the little that
remains of this fort where one of the few Revolutionary
War battles in Florida took place. Also in Pensacola,

listed on the National Register as one of the best-preserved
examples of post-Civil War classical revivial architecture.
Over $16,000 in state grant money was recently awarded as
Florida's contribution to a $65,000 restoration project
underway on the property.

QoA 390

the Clara Barkley Dorr House, built in 1871, has been - =



RICHARD (DICK) STONE

MEMORANDTUM SECRETARY OF STATE

TO:
FROM:

SUBJECT:

gen-19
1-5-71

Bill Thompson Date: g.33-74

Rodney Little

Certificates

Could you please prepare certificates for the sites
listed below?

Coral Gables City Hall

Plymouth Congregational Church

Clara Barkley Dorr House

Site of Fort George (1778-1781)

Centro Asturiano

Chapin House

Ruskin Women's Club
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RICHARD (DICK) STONE

MEMORANDUM SECRETARY OF STATE
TO: Dean Kane Date: g/12/74
FROM : Rodney Little

SUBJECT:

gen-19
1-5-71

National Register Entries

Please prepare news releases for National Register
additions listed below. I have enclosed a copy of
the form for each for your information. Thank you.
(Please return the National Register nomination
forms when you are finished.)

Site of Ft. Geocrge
Escambia County

Plymouth Congregational Church
Dade County

Ruskin Women's Club
Hillsborough County

Coral Gables City Hall
Dade County

Centro Asturiano
Hillsborough County

Chapin Heouse
Hillsborough County

Clara Barkley Dorr House
Escambia County




ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

sTATE FLORIDA

¢
Date Entered JuL 2 3
Name Location
Plymouth Congregational Church Coconut Grove
Dade County
Ruskin Women's Club Ruskin

Billsborough County

copY G L amenenii s IGAION

Also Notified

Hon. Edward J. Gurney

Hon. Lawton Mainor Chiles, Jt.
Hon. Dante B. Fascell

Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
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United States Department of the Interior

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
WASHINGTON, D.G. 20240

IN REPLY REFER TO.

Mr. Robert Williams, Director FEB 22 1974
Division of Archives, History and
Records Management
Dept. of State
401 East Gaines Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32304

Dear Mr. Williams:

We are pleased to acknowledge the receipt of the following nominations to
the Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation on February 21, 1974.

1. 1415 North Franklin Street, Hillsborough Co.
2. Stovall House, Hillsborough Co.

3. Levick House, Hillsborough Co.

4, Bay City Walking Dredge, Collier Co.

5. Cape St. George Light (ACLL 134), Franklin Co.
6. First Coconut Grove School House, Dade Co.

7. Ted Smallwood's Store, Collier Co.

8. Plymouth Congregational Church, Dade Co.

8, The O'Reilly House, St. Johns Co.
10, El1 Jardin, Dade Co.

11, Coral Gables City Hall, Dade Co.

12. Clara Barkley Dorr House, Escambia Co.

13, Ruskin Women's Club, Hillsborough Co.

14. Johnson-Wolff House, Hillsborough Co.

15. Union Railroad Station, Hillsborough Co.

16. Centro Asturiano, Hillsborough Co.

17. Chapin House, Hillsborough Co.
18. El Centro Espanol of West Tampa, Hillsborough Co.

When the properties have been placed on the National Register you will
receive a copy of Congressional notification.

Sincerely yours,

Marguerite H. Mott
Chief, Control Unit
National Register
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February 13, 1974

Plymouth Congregational Church, Inc.
3429 Devon Road, Coconut Grove
Miami, Florida

Dear Sir:

It is my pleasure as Director of the pivision of Archives,
History, and Records Management to notify you that Plymouth
Congregational Church is being nominated to the NatIonal Fegister
of ﬁIstorIc Places in accordance with procedures establi:ﬁiﬁ
by the National Fistoric Preservation Act in 1966, As you
know, the National Register is the official schedule of the

nation's cultural property that is worth saving. 0f course,
this action in no way affects your property rights.

The nomination is considered for inclusion by the Keeper
of the National Register of Historic Places in Washington., This
procedure of evaluation ranges in duration from one to six months,
We will notify you immediately when we receive word (if the property
should be accepted).

I have enclosed a small pamphlet explainin the National
Register in some detail but if you have any Idd?tiﬂnlf questions
please call me (904/488-1480) or one of my staff members, Randy F.
Nimnicht, Historic Preservationist (904/488-7365) collect.

Sincerely,

Pobert Williams
RW:Nsr

Enclosure




STATE OF FLORIDA I

Bepartment nf Dtate

THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE 32304

RICHARD (DICK)} STONE ROBERT WILLIAMS, DIRECTOR
SECRETARY OF STATE DIVISION OF ARCHIVES, HISTORY, AND
RECORDS MANAGEMENT

(904) 48€.1480

February 12, 1974

Dr. William J. Murtagh

Keeper of the National Register
National Register of Historic Places
18th and C Streets, N.W.

Washington, D. C. 20240

Dear Bill:

Enclosed please find several nominations to the
National Register of Historic Places as listed on the
attached list. These nominations are worthy of submission
to the Register as approved by the Florida Review Committee
for the National Register and the State Historic Preser-
vation Officer.

Sincerely,

r

ﬁ bert Wil
State Historic Preservation Officer

RW:Nsr

Enclosures (18) nominations
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NOMINATIONS TO THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES - 2-12-74

Name of Site County

1. Cape St. George Light Franklin

2. Levick House Hillsborough
3. Stovall House Hillsborough
4. 1415 N. Franklin St. Hillsborough.
5. El Centro Espancl of West Tampa : Hillsboroﬁgh
6. Chapin House _ Hillsborough
7. . Centro Asturiano Hillsborough
8. Union Railroad Station Hillsborough
9. Johnson~Wolff House Hillsborough
10. Ruskin Women's Club Hillsborough
11. Clara Barkley Dorr House ‘Escambia

12. Coral Gables City Hall Dade

13. E1l Jardin Dade

14. The 0'Reilly House St. Johns
15, Ted Smallwood's Store Collier

16. Bay City Walking Dredge Collier

17. Plquuth Congregational Church Dade

18. First Coconut Grove School House Dade
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STATE OF FLORIDA 4 {#
o o5 g pary u.gfm v ae [y N
fenartment of Sae

THE CAPITON
TALLARASSEE 32304

RICHARD {DICK ]} STONE ROBERT WILLIAMS, DIRECTOR
SECHRETARY OF STATE DIVISION OF ARCHIVES, HISTORY, AND
RECORDS MAMNAGEMENT

(864) 488-148B0

Novenmber 7, 1873

Member, Florida Review Committee
for the National Register of
Historic Places

University of Florida

Gainesville, Florida 32601

Enclosed you will find twenty nominations for consider-
ation in your capacity as a mexber of Florida's Review
Conmittee for the National Register of Historic Places. As
usual, vou will find a tally sheet on which to indicate
your approval/disapproval and/or comments. Please feel free
to mark on the nominations indicating any errors, changes, etc.
Vie decided to include with the nominations a copy of the '
up-to-date list of National Register sites which have been
registered. .

We would appreciate having your tally sheet returned
by November 28. You need not return the nominations unless
you have marked on them to indicate mistakes or requested
changes.

We are concerned at the relatively few nominations that
we have reguested your review of in the last six months.
We have completed a great deal of site work but we experienced
some problems over the summer months in getting the nominations
in final draft form. So between now and the end of Decemnber
we are going to make an effort to make up for lost time.

Thank you for your prompt return on the previous batch.

Respectfully, .
é’? g B Pouvonsnst ;

v

Randy F., Nimnicht
Historic Preservationist
RIfN:cgl

Enclosures (20) nominations
(1) list of N.R. sitcs
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A GLIMPSE AT OUR STORY

The history of Plymouth Church
has been written by many dedicated
men and women who worked tirelessly
with the little they had and who
dreamed of what their church could
be. The first of these dreams
had its beginning with the orxgani-
zation of Union Congregational
. Church on Novemwber 15, 1897, 1Its
four members included the pastor
and his wife, Rev, and Mrs. James
Boltomn.

Much of our churxch's history is
synonymous with the community
1ife of Coconut Grove and has
drawn within its influence many of the pioneers whose names
are well known in South Florida, Commodore Ralph M. Munroe
presented the ground for the original chapel. The recoxds
show that the collections for the first three years were
$33,22, $80,56, and $40.78. Out of these amounts the entire
expense of operating the church was taken - including the
cost of coal oil for the lamps - and what was left was paid
to the minister. In spite of the small congregation, a
church costing $1,300 was built, and for $100 an organ was
purchased,

Rev. Solomon G, Merrick became the pastor om May 1, 1901,
Mrs. Merrick organized the Woman's Society in September of
that year, and a remarkable achievement was revealed in the
payment of a $300 debt on the church. Four women, with
only a wilderness around them, held church suppers for
patrons who had to travel down the coast in schooners,

It was a record breaking example of the faith that makes
all things possible.
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. o [soniinwan ol Sl STURY‘*‘IEWT%”E

INIHT.#FMILMMH eiinisler came to Coconut Grove to enjoy Me e

lireswent in o balmy climote, The Ttev. Joaes Balian, a New Englandes DH G

according to bazy menory, alibough bis exact oeiglos ltive never Boon fismmly ostal-
lighed, discovered that Gife wos dull gnd almdess off the ral pit,

When & prosp of Cocomad Grove plossers urged Rov. Bolton to establish 'a charch,
he was soger 19 oblige. He wrote a leltor b the Methodist Ifission board and urged
ils suppoet, The was tamsed dewn oa iho grounds ot o Medlwodist church had al-
repdy beon chartered in nearby Miami,

v Someono mupesied ihat o Congvemstionsl Beard of Mis-
giot might be oager lo pain a-frontler post in Sowth Florida
sinee the Congregodionalists did not have a church in L !
viclnlty,

Fev, Dalton decided thealegical differences were  minoe
in fove of Coconal Grove's newd for a chursh, He wroty the
Congregationalists and received, an the poxl mail sieamer, &
martgage commitment for a buildlng plus missionary a6 for
tse support of the minister and bis wife.

Acconfing to a church liistory complled by Mes, J D,
Overstreed, (he earlicst writton recocds of Usisa Cangrega-
tianal Churel begin March 2, 1%, when a mecting was hold
to “present s historical shoteh of the chureh and tp .
organize the church on & more solid basis™ r

The theee yoars before Jul Been a sirigile. A small
chaped had besn erected on land donaled by Commodoes Ralph
M. Munron, The collections during the (hres founding yeass
amounted to $325. 5058 and $40.78. .

Theough pdditianal denatbons, the chapel had hess buils gt
a eost of $1,000 and it was equipped with a handsome now !
organ valued al $ioo;

From the beginning, Union Congregational Chusdh was o
fachimnabls house of woeship, Hwaph no bess singers for its it
lering asray of Coconul Grove First {amilies. Mrs. Harlan A,
Trapp and Japnes Waller, adong. with the Rev. Dolton snd his
wife, were the four founding membors.

H Rav. Bolton was obviously a farcelul leter writer. Threugh
hiz diligence @ answerlng eocrespondonce, he Found Bls own
successor amd also provided the chinrch with k‘w
Congregationalist minisier, Salomon . Mercick,

ﬁ&?&mm a native ol Moryland His wife,

Mecrick, was the Jaughier of o Pemnsylvanian whe
Bad made a forfune selllag o potent medicioe Jaboled, “Fink's
Magle 0iL* =

% The Merricks were enarried young and In the lafc 1630,
Ealomon was assigoed to a chureh in Dstxbury, Mass. This was
the beart of Conpgregationzlist eousilry and considersd 1o be g
chodce parish,

The Congrepationnlists first came o this coumlry im the
.+ 205, Pilgrims foanded Plymosth Colony and Puritans estaidished
Massachussits Day Colony. The Congregsticaslists traced (heir
kistory hack to the refermalion o England. They fiemly be
litved In a separation of chureh and state Congrezational-
fats, howswer, wore alwiys aciive in communily work prd
frequently founded charitable ond eduseational institugisns wiiich
werg not bound to the e,

Some early American congregatinalisds were John Adams,
second president of the United States, and Jubn Hancock, a
wealthy merchanl crediled with financing the American Revi
Iuthan. Mra: Adams (Abipsll Smith! was the deughter of o »
Congragationalist minister. .
Haevard Collape was foended by a Congregstionalist in 1as¢, a
: Vale, Amberst, Willlums, Smith, Wellesley, Elmhisrst, Grinnell, £
" New Collage, Belolt, Carloion and oibers are hisdnrically azag- .
cisted with Congregational churches,

Gome Coegregationalists were not o broad-mindod nod 1
seademic. The Cottons and the Mathers of Salem, Maze hurn-
od wilches,

It was this spirited religioas lneage that prodiced Solomwn
Merelek, The Merricks had seven children, among them o ot
of twins. During a cold winter in Now Englind, ane of the twics
died of the croip. Merciek was bepingleg 1o sxporienee sicges
af ill health and he decided i give wp his pepceful, well
established parish to move to o mild elimade

: His original soares of reference whea it came (o pionsering,
¢ was the Congreations]l Church Divoetory. Mocrick leafad theough
it aod discoversd Jomes Bollen, Cornaut Srove Mission, Florida

Merrlek wrote 4o Balton asking i facm land was availahla
in the sPea. Dolioa sencched cacefully, sefising a lnege addition
o his membership i e could satisly Moreiek, Tev, Bolan pec-
emmendsd o i-acre homostesd four miles from Cocosut
Grove thal could be purelumsed for 81,100, The praperty Incladed
a smoll frare housa,

Solommon Mercick wos o impressod wilth Ballon's deaeriplion
&uhmllﬂadﬂmﬂhu@tﬂuphmmnnn‘ghtnmm.
m&wmww»mcm@.nmammp.

N y :Thnmhhmmummwmmw




PLYMOUTH:

mﬁkkqudlﬂmbmmelbagrmmkh;ur

a lut la eemmon with his Cangregntion-
Einﬂhrhnddﬂ:lupad-npﬁ'h-mde
damﬂm“nm;mem%&

T 1903, Rev. Balton resigned hle pastocale Icause of de
nﬁnm;lu;ﬂhhdﬁnhmuenﬁbuqmpuhr. Tae church
had Been located at wﬁuhawﬁmﬂﬁmmuﬂ\l‘hﬂrﬁa
Streat. During Merrick's pRstarate, a larger ateuctiore wos srocted
ammmm.mmmudmmam Legion huall,

mciul prestize. The membership grew' ropidly e did the

church's reputation as o foshionabls parish.

Rav. Merrick relinqulshad his pastoenle beesuse af [ailing
hpalth §g 1000, He died soom after, Rev, Horry H. Jones ba-
Eﬂmpamiadmuqqd'ﬂummtmlwﬂam
Durlg his leadecship, a Parsonage -was built,

Rev. Harloy Care of Goulds was the nest pastoe, He drova
& distance of 17 miles pach Sunday to condict ihe serviees,
In 15 be was succeoded by Rev. George B. Spoulding of Key
Mnu]d&edum{nrllxmm,whkuﬁmwu o
weductive ane. ~

Dev. Epaulding wulhumnmmdhmmu:
: ummhmﬂuuummmmm

&mﬂuﬁl:ﬁhuﬂﬂtht]lﬁﬂnﬂbﬂmﬁm
of Epanish architeciure in the south, despite the fact that
churches tn 8L Avgustise predate it by centurles.

ﬂmﬁMmm&thythhHammhhg

:I,ﬂmnahﬁaﬂdwdmmknmhmaﬁm&

properiy on Sunset Road south of Cocoplam Flaza.

Dr, J. Delman Kuykesdall suecesded Tev, Spaulding in 1921,
Buring his pastorate the manse was bl and & small frame
parish house was mu&ﬁhmmﬁmdﬂmm
maesa, Geocde Merrick supplied the matching rocks.

Mrs, Arthur Curtia James snd W, J. Matheson werp heavy
condrlbulors fo the chuech during that periad,

The front door of the church was a present from Mrs,
James, 1o 1838, she iaported them from ag old moasstery in
the Pyrempes mountiiss, The hasd-carved doars are of walnat
hacked with eak. The ariginal, handwrought iren fittiags were
peeserved aed dnatalled,

D, Ruykendal] wag pastor for %5 years. He was Gollowed,
In May 1342, by Dr, Forrest C. Weir, Rev, Dawid Justin
Taaviz replaced D, Weir in to47,

Postor Davis f1 an encroetic, wakm-hearted man wha has
stich a dynamic personalily that he has increasesd the church
miembership fram 8,417 to 17,035

Plymouth Charch hag become fenswa as “the Bride's chureh.*
The mwsd secially prominent [milics merge at e altar. Dr,
Davis will marry couples who do not hold ehierch membeesbip
ond he. conducts his pwe ecumonical movemont by inviskng the
pastor of the beldo's own church to particlpale in the ceremany.
June [s & boary mowth for weddings. This maoath, Aot 15 wod-
dings will take place la the romantic, vine-covarsd charch.

% MIAMI / The Miami Nows
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PLYMOUTH CHURCH ~ “The Church in the Garden"
A History from 1497 - 1950

Written by
Mrs., J. D. Overstreet
Church Historian

o
52
ot
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The past history and origin of Plymouth Congreraticnal Church is & colorful
story. It is & dream come true. It covers the life of the Coconut Grove coumunity,
It is not only in time that the church history iz synonymous with the commumity
life, but the organizaticn has had 2 large influence in eresting Coconut Grove
ivself; and has drawn within its influence many of the picneers whose names are
known to the whole Miaml territory,

& e

Plymouth Church wezs formerls i ational Church, and was
organlzed November 15, Y, with four membeps., Onz of these wzs the Rev. Jares

Bolton, who DCCLI® THC TLPSL 1GSLOT, re other. three were Mrs. Bolton, Mrs, Harlan
A. Tropp end James L. Wnller. Mrs. Trapp ls still 2 mewber - still loyal and
devoted as in the days when she had to be jemitor, Sundey School Superintendent,
and also had to go out and gather in the members herself each Sunday.

The fact that the church belongs to the Jongregational denomination is due to
& fine spirit of Christian felliowsnip on the pert of Mr. Solton, who was himself a
Methodist. Commodore Ralph M, Muroce presented ths ground for a union chapel, with
the understanding that it should be uszd by whatever denomination should accept it.
Mr. Bolton suggested thot the Conmrerationnl Board or Missions would be in &
position to undertake the tosk of establishing a church, and on nis recommendation
the matter wes taken up with the board. The result was that 2 grant and plans were
made for a bullding, and missionary aid was grented for the support of the minister;
and the church became affilisted with the Congregationalists. The earliest written
records of the church begin March 2, 1901, when a meeting was called "o give
an historical sketch of the church™.”, . from its start . . . and to reorganize-
the church on a more solid basis,! ’

Mr, Bolton remained as postor until 1901. The records show that the
collections for the threc years were £33.22, $80,56 and 540,78, Out of these
amounts the entire expense of operating the church - including the cost of coal
oil for the lamps - wes taken, and what was left was paid to the pastor., The
amount which he received was $76.45. Tn spite of the smallness of the congregation
a church costing $1,300 was bullt, and an organ bought at a cost of $100.

Rev. Solomon G. Merrick becuwre the pastor on May 1, 1901, in which
relationship he continued until 1907. Mrs. Merrick orgunized the Woman's Socieby
in September, 1901, and rothing reveals better the nchievements of a determined
people than tae cae incident alonc of the payument of a $300 debt on the church by
four women, in one year, whose suppers were given and whose sewing wes done when
they had only a wildorness around them and when their supper patrons hed to travel
down the coast in schooners. It was a record breaking example of the faith that
makes all things possible, :
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Rev. Merrick wis compelled to relincuish the pastorate by ill health; and the
pulpit was variously su?pliud until Jamuary 1, 1911, when the Rev, Harry M, Jones
became pastor. He remained for two years, and during his pastorste the church
gained much strength. During this peried a parsonage was built,

Following Rev. Jonecs, the Rev, Harley Core, who wis living at Goulds, became
acting pastor, in which relztionshin he contirmed for two wvenrs - 1913=1915. He
drove = distance of 17 miles euch Sunday to preach, 2nd later to tezch in the
Sunday School. During this time a debt of $1,100 on the parsonage was paid. He
is still deeply interested in Plymouth ard his fire Christian character has
endeared him in the hearts of all who know him.

re was succecded by the Hev, Georee B, Spaulding of Xey West, who led the
church for six years, 1915-192G; and accomplished the building of the beautiful
structure which is an outstanding landwmark in Grester Mismi. The @ld church
property wns then seld snd is now the propertr of the Ameriean Legicl; located >
on MeFarlane Road, and o center of many splendid activities, J

Mr. Spaulding aecomplished, by a rciher unique bit of finaneing, and by his
persistent effort, the building of the present church and its garden and cloisters,
At his suggestion the church bousht = piece of land, laid it out into & small
subdivision, and sold enough lots to furnish the nuecleus of a building furd. This,
with contributions mude by the members end other iutercsted frisnds, made possible
the ersction on the land which was retainsd, of whai mauny leading architects have
deelered is the finest specimen of Spanish architecture ilii the South,

The rocks to build the chureh were given from property owned by Mr. Fin
ieres of the Irving J. Themas Co, It is a type of flt rock that is found
prineipally in thet section of Dade County, and is surfsce rock only. This
property was on Sunset Road Jjust south of Cocoplum Plaza.

The stone work was done by one man only - a1 Spaniard by the name of Felix
Rebom, MNr. George E. Merrick, developer of (oral Gobles, and whese father was a
former pastor, secured the services of this mrster rmason, His only tools were
a hatchet, a trowel, a T-squire and a plumb line., The work wos storted in June of

‘1916 and completed in August of the next vear, The nitienally known architect,

Clinion Mekenzie, drew up the plans, They wera adapted frem pictures and plens of
2 Mexdco City mission church. )

Dr. J. Delman Kuykendall was called as pasteor to succeed Mr, Spauvlding on
Jenuwary 1, 1721, During his pastorate the Monse was built and the small frame
Prrich liouse cequired. It was good forture to have aa comtributors to the church
people like Mre, Arthur Curtiss James and Mr. W. J. Matheson. lrs. James was more
than genercus, nnd made it possible te complete the Manse in conformity with the
church, [The recks for thie Manse wers given by Mr, George E. Merrick, The services
of the same archifect, Nr. McKenzie, wers secured.




Page 3

The building of the Manse was undertsken in 1926 - before the crisis that came
in the financlal affairs of all Floridians - bank failures, the destructive
hurricane, and the "burst" of the real estnte boom, Through the generosity of
Mrs, James, Plymouth Church was able to carry on, The Minse was beautifully
furnished with her aid - most of the furniture belng imported,

The pipe organ was given by ¥rs, Jemes. The cushions in the original pews
were given by Mr. W. J. Matheson, who had 2lso econbributed substantial sums for
the work of the church. On his death a $2,000 bequest wns received., The piano
in the church was given by the Woman's Society in 1917 in momory of Rev. Bolton,
the first pastor. Many of the hvmn books were ihe gift of Mrs. M, L. Stimson;
the jardinalres were given by Mrs., E. 3, dortlett; and the Tlags were presented
by Dr. & Mrs. A. T. Hutchinson, The velvet hangings for the altar and the
picture of "The Last Supper! in Plymouth Hall were contributed by the Emily B,
Stimson Circle. The cross and crndlesticles were gifts from Mr. Roy Yeats in
memory of his father. Through the genorosity of Mr, Frank J. Dick the beautirful
new pews were presented to the church in February, 1949, in memory of his wife,
Hattie A, Dick.

The anclent front door of the church was presented by Mrs. James in 1928,
It came from an old monastery in the Syrences Mountains and is about 350 years old.
It is made of hand-carved walnut, backed with oak and with the original hand-
wrought iron fitiings,

Upon the orpganization of the Coral Gubles Congregational Church many members
and workers in Plymouth Church transferred to the church in their own community -
this was in 1524,

Dr. Xuykendall continued as pastor for 22 vears ~ leaving in May, 1942. To
him should go much more credit than shows on any of the records., He truly helped
the church through a2 crisis that would have boen fatal to other churches of like
size, He was faithful in the discharge of 4ais many dnties, and assumed many tasks
which did not come within the range of ministerial duties. It was during his
pastoratc that Plymouth, even though small of mombership, increased its prestige
in the community and became an important element in the religious and cultural
life of Coconut Grove.

Dr. Forrest 8. Weir followed Dr. Kuykendall as pastor - coming to Plymouth
on November 1,-19.2, and continuing through Jenuary, 1947. Under his able
leadership and organizational ability the church enjoyed one of the best periods
of its history. There was probably never grenter earncstness and devotion on the
part of the mombers and friends than during the period Dr. Weir was pastor, Due
toc the war there was a sreat influx of sorvice men, working psople, and families,
ard the church grew., All departments werc reorganized; and Dr. Weir proved no.
effort was too great if it helped make his work more effective, The acquisition
of the large housc across the street (the present Manse) was his most notable
achlevement for the church,
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A Christian Endeavor Society was organized at the hame of Miss Olga Kent on
February 25, 1915, and this orgenization was active for many many years. Plymonth
Neighbors was another active group for manv vears., A1l adults of the church
attended its affairs - whcther they were "rainbow teas', reading »nlays, or
putting on pageants. The Yomarco Club was organized in 1930, with Mr. & Mrs.
Robert Fitch Smith as itc leaders. The Pilgrim Followship was organized in
1937 with Leona Peacock Cayton ns its first president. In 2948 the Plvmouth
Laymen's Fellowship was organized with Mr. Charles Nelson as the first president,
In 1945 the Triune Club was formed for young adulis between ages 20-3C with
Mr. R. Gredy Barrs as president.

The histery of the Womin's Socictv is a joy to rcad. Ihs work has becn the
most gratifying story of 21l the great work that the women of Plymiouih have done in
& charitzble, social and financial way for the good of the church. It hes been the
one organlzation that allowed no interruption of its splendid activities, regardless
of comditions, The fact, for instonce, lhat it lost its funds totaling 400 in =
bank failure in 1930, did not hinder this organization when it was asked to do the
needed things - whether it was presenting o fiag to ths Boy Scouts, filling
baskets for the needy, or raising moncy 0 repair a leaky roof, It has come a
long way since the days of krs, Eva 3olton when she came to “Ladies Aid" in a
buggy pulled by her horse, Johnny Zooker, ‘

feve David Justin Duvis followed Dr. Welr, coming to Plymouth on March 15,
947, No change of ministers lLad over happensd so naturally., Hr. Davis followed
no former pattern, but in his own quiet way went about his work in an efficient
and alert manner, but with.warmth and friendliness. Under his excellent guidance
the interest and devotion of the entire membership continued to @xpand.

The most outstanding event of hils first year was the 50th Anniversary
celebration of Plymouth Church. This event received wide publielty and was

attended by hundrads of members and friends. of the church, together with early
pioneers and builders of Coconut Grove. Mrs, Trapp, the only living charter
mewber, was guest of honor, That occasion will long be remembered in the hearts
and minds of everyons who attended,

As Rev. Davis' fame as a friend and preacher spread the attendance at church
increased, The total attendance for 1947 wus 8,417; in 1948 it was 10,227 and in
1949 it was 12,926, In 1947 he sccuved L4 rew members; during 1948 there were
59, and in 1949 were ~dded 67 members. It was necessary to inzugurate two
identical services each Sunday during the winter months to accommodate the crowds.

The need for a social hall and addition to the church, plus Sunday School
facilities, became very urgent, With an enrollment of 110 pupils, 11 teachers,

a planist, a secretarv-treasurer, and a superintendent, it became apparent
Plymouth Hall would have to be remodeled. Greatly needed slterations are row
being made, and a complete plan for the future development of the church buildings
and grounds will be presented to the entire church menbership at an carly date,
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Plymouth Church is looking forward to a period of even grester achievement
in the coming years. The dream of four people in 1897 has developed into "4
spot of peace and beauty, where pecple cm rest their spirits, and can find
some refreshment of mind and soul in the physical surroundings and in the
ministry of music and proeaching,!

Plymouth Church still has a great work o do and will do it.
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PLYMOUTH CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH
Miami's most historic church, in lovely Coconut
Srove. Founded in 1897 built of native coral
rock. Famous as "The Church in the Garden''.

3429 Devon Rd. Miami, Fla.
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UNITED 5TATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

FORM 10-301 &
las72)

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPH FORM

(Type all entries - attach to or en close with photograph)

1. HAME

COMMON AND/GR HISTORIC

Plymouth Congregational| Church

NUMERIE CODE (Aasalgned by NPX)

2. LOCATION

STATE COUMTY

Florida

Dade

TOWH

Coconut Grove

STREET AMND HUMBER

3429 DPevon Road

3. PHOTO REFEREMCE

FHOTO CREDIT DATE

Mary K. Evans

March, 1972

NEGATIVE FILED AT

Div. of Archives, History
and Records Management

4. IDENTIFICATION

DESCRIBE viEW, BIRECTION, ETC.

West elevation.

GFQ £32.008
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FOFM 10-501 4 NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
ke NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPH FORM
(Type all eniries - attach to or enclose with photograph)

1. HAME
EOMMOHN AND/GR HIBTORIC NUMERIC CODE (Asalgned by NP5}

Plymouth Congregational|Church

2. LOCATION
STATE i COUMTY TOwWe
Florida Dade Coconut Grove

STREET AND NUMBER

3429 Devon Road

3. PHOTO REFERENCE

FHOTS CREGIT CATE NEGATIVE FILED AT
Div. of Archives, History
Mary K. Ewvans March, 1972 and Records Management

4. IDEMTIFICATION
DESCRIBE VIEW, DIRECTION, ETC.

Main facade; southwest elevation

GPFQ 832009




